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LIFE PARTERS HOLDINGS, INC,,

BRIAN PARDO, R. SCOTT PEDEN,

and DAVID M. MARTIN,
Defendants.
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ORDER

Before the Court in the above-entitled and styled cause of action is Defendants’ Motion for
Sanctions (Clerk’s Dkt. No. 30); Plaintiff’s Response in Opposition (Clerk’s Dkt. No. 31); and
Defendants’ Reply in Support (Clerk’s Dkt. No. 34). Having considered the Parties’ pleadings and
the applicable case law, the Court is of the opinion that the Motion should be granted in part and

denied in part.

L. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Plaintiff, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), filed a Complaint against
Defendants on January 3, 2012. The Complaint alleges that Life Partners Holdings, Inc. (referred to
jointly with its wholly-owned subsidiary, Life Partners, Inc. as “Life Partners”)—through senior
officers Brian D. Pardo, R. Scott Peden, and David Martin—engaged in fraud that misled the
company’s shareholders about its financial strength and sustainability. Complaint at 1. After the
Complaint was filed and before the Parties’ Rule 26(f) conference, the SEC deposed a non—party
witness, Peter Cangany. Defs. Mot. for Sanctions at p. 2. Defendants argue that this deposition

violated the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (“FRCP”) because the deposition was taken without
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leave from the Court, prior to the Parties’ Rule 26(f) conference, and without notice to Defendants.
Id. at 4. Defendants request that the Court prohibit the SEC from using any documents or testimony

obtained by Mr. Cangany for any purpose related to this litigation. Id. at 10.

Plaintiff asserts that the subpoena issued to Mr. Cangnany was an administrative subpoena
issued to a non-party “seeking information about potential violations not alleged in the Complaint.”
PL Resp. at 1. Plaintiff further argues the deposition was properly taken under its regulatory authority
to investigate potential violations of federal securities laws and was not an attempt at to obtain ex-

parte discovery. Id. at 2.

II. DISCUSSION

Congress vested the SEC with “broad authority to conduct investigations into possible
violations of the federal securities laws and to demand production of evidence relevant to such
investigations.” SEC v. Jerry T. O’Brien, Inc., 467 U.S. 735, 743 (1984). The “Commission may,
in its discretion, make such investigations as it deems necessary to determine whether any person
has violated, is violating, or is about to violate any provision of this chapter.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u(a)
(2010); SEC v. Dresser Indus., 628 F.2d 1368, 1376 (D.C. Cir. 1980). Administrative agencies,
however, are “unquestionably bound” by the FRCP when they are parties in civil actions. FTC v.
Turner, 609 F.2d 743, 745 n.3 (5th Cir. 1980). Rule 26(d)(1) of the FRCP prevents parties from
seeking discovery before the Rule 26(f) conference has taken place. Rule 30(a)(2)(A)(iii) requires
parties to seek leave of court in order to take a deposition before the Rule 26(f) conference. Under
Rule 30(b)(1), parties are required to provide notice to every other party before taking a deposition.
The Court is granted authority to impose an appropriate sanction on a person who frustrates the fair

examination of a deponent under Rule 30(d)(2).

Defendants claim Plaintiff deposed Mr. Cangany to obtain ex-parte discovery for use in the
present case, in violation of the FRCP. Defs. Mot. for Sanctions at 5. Plaintiff claims to have deposed
Mr. Cangany under its broad authority to conduct investigations into securities-law violations. P/.

Resp. at 2. The pertinent inquiry is whether Mr. Cangany’s deposition was governed by the FRCP

-
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or was taken pursuant to the SEC’s investigatory authority.
A. The Deposition of Peter Cangany was Subject to the FRCP

Plaintiff correctly notes that the filing of a civil suit does not inhibit the SEC’s broad
authority to investigate securities-law violations and that the SEC is not bound by the FRCP when
investigating potential securities-law violations pursuant to its investigatory power. See PL. Resp. at
5-6; see also Bowles v. Bay of New York Coal & Supply Corp., 152 F.2d 330 (2d Cir. 1945). While
administrative agencies are not bound by the Rules when conducting investigations, “administrative
agencies are unquestionably bound by the [R]ules when they are parties in civil actions.” Turner, 609
F.2d at 745 n.3. If the deposition of Mr. Cangany was not part of a purely administrative

investigation unrelated to the present case against Defendants, then it was subject to the FRCP.

Plaintiff implies that Mr. Cangany was deposed to investigate potential violations he
committed as the auditor of Life Partners. See Pl Resp. at 2, 4, 5. Plaintiff never explicitly points
to the purpose of the deposition, but merely states that “the SEC is charged with ensuring that
individuals who appear or practice before the Commission fulfill their professional obligations.
Whether such obligations have been fulfilled is a different inquiry from the securities-law violations
alleged in the Complaint.” /d. at 2. Plaintiff submitted materials in camera for the purpose of
“further debunk[ing] Defendants’ false accusation that the subpoena was issued ‘to obtain ex parte
discovery.” Id. at 5. These materials support the conclusion that the deposition was taken as part of
an investigation of Mr. Cangany, but nevertheless fail to “debunk” Defendants’ allegations that the

deposition of Cangany was intended to elicit testimony for use against them in the present case.

After reviewing Mr. Cangany’s deposition, it is clear that the deposition was not taken for
the sole purpose of investigating violations not alleged in the Complaint. Rather, a large portion of
the questions and answers provided at the deposition specifically relate to allegations against
Defendants made in the Complaint. Defendants accurately state that the deposition transcript “shows

that Plaintiff sought testimony from Mr. Cangany concerning [Life Partners’] revenue recognition
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practices, asset impairment practices, and life expectancy practices, as well as Defendants Pardo,
Peden, and Martin’s knowledge of the same—all of which form the very bases of Plaintiff’s
Complaint in this case.” Defs. Reply in Support at 2-3. Even if portions of the testimony relate to
the propriety of Mr. Cangany’s actions as auditor of Life Partners, the deposition is still ripe with
testimony regarding issues in the case at bar. Plaintiff claims that any portion of Mr. Cangany’s
testimony relating to the allegations against Defendants inadvertently came out and was not obtained
for the purpose of use against Defendants. P/ Resp. at 7-8. As Defendants correctly point out, even

a cursory reading of the transcript reveals this to be untrue. See Defs. Mot. for Sanctions at 7.

Plaintiff cannot administer an extra-judicial deposition regarding an investigation, elicit
testimony during that deposition regarding allegations made in the Complaint for use against
Defendants, and then claim immunity from the FRCP by labeling the deposition as “investigative.”
The deposition was clearly intended to elicit testimony regarding allegations made against

Defendants in the Complaint, and was subject to the FRCP.
B. The Deposition of Peter Cangany Violated the FRCP

Defendants claim that Mr. Cangany’s deposition was taken before the Rule 26(f) conference
in violation of Rule 26(d)(1), without asking leave from the Court in violation of Rule

30(a)(2)(A)(ii), and without notice to Defendants in violation of Rule 30(b)(1).

Under Rule 26(d)(1), a party may not seek discovery from any source before the parties have
conferred as required by Rule 26(f). The Rule 26(f) conference did not occur until May 31, 2012.
Plaintiff took the deposition on January 26, 2012, thereby violating Rule 30(b)(1).

When the parties have not stipulated to a deposition and a party seeks to take a deposition
before the Rule 26(f) conference, that party is required to obtaiﬁ leave of court. Fed. R. Civ. P.
30(a)(2)(A)(iii); see also Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(d). Plaintiff deposed Mr. Cangany before the Rule 26(f)
conference and without the parties having stipulated to his deposition. See Defs. Mot. for Sanctions

at 2, 6. Because Plaintiff never requested leave of court, the SEC’s deposition violated Rule
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30(a)(2)(A)(ii).

A party seeking to depose a witness is required to give notice to every other party under Rule
30(b)(1). The Parties do not dispute that Defendants were not given notice before the deposition was

taken. Because notice was not given, Plaintiff violated Rule 30(b)(1).

Despite three clear FRCP violations, Plaintiff claims Mr. Cangany’s deposition did not
prejudice Defendants because Plaintiff provided the transcript to Defendants as part of Plaintiff’s
initial disclosures and Defendants are still free to depose Mr. Cangany. PL Resp. at 9, 10. Neither
of these facts alleviate the prejudice caused by Plaintiff taking an extra-judicial deposition from a

non-party witness to obtain testimony against Defendants.

Most importantly, Plaintiff’s lack of notice to Defendants deprived them of their ability to
cross-examine Mr. Cangany and object to testimony elicited by Plaintiff. Plaintiff’s reliance on the
Supreme Court’s O 'Brien decision to claim Defendants were not entitled to notice is misguided. See
SECv. Jerry T. O’Brien, 467 U.S. 735, (1984). The Court in O Brien held that the target of an SEC
investigation is not entitled to notice of investigative subpoenas issued to third parties. /d. The case
at bar is inapposite because the subpoena was issued to Mr. Cangany after the Complaint was filed

and with the intention of obtaining evidence against the named Defendants.

C. Sanctions are an Appropriate Remedy

Because Plaintiff improperly deposed Mr. Cangany in violation of the FRCP, the Court must
determine whether sanctions are an appropriate remedy. Rule 30(d)(2) provides: “The court may
impose an appropriate sanction—including the reasonable expenses and attorney’s fees incurred by
any party—on a person who impedes, delays, or frustrates the fair examination of the deponent.” By
examining Mr. Cangany without the presence of opposing counsel, and with the intent to obtain
evidence in the present case against Defendants, Plaintift clearly frustrated the fair examination of

Mr. Cangany. Therefore, sanctions are an appropriate remedy.
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Defendants seek five specific forms of relief: (1) an order prohibiting plaintiff from using any
documents or testimony obtained from Mr. Cangany for any purpose related to this litigation; (2) an
order requiring Plaintiff to disclose any other subpoenas, testimony, or other discovery Plaintiff has
undertaken since January 3, 2012; (3) a written representation from Plaintiff, under oath, that
Plaintiff has not conducted any further extra-judicial discovery; (4) an order prohibiting Plaintiff
from using any additional subpoenas or obtaining evidence against Defendants without complying
with the FRCP; and (5) attorney’s fees in the amount of $5,000.00 for having to prepare the Motion

for Sanctions.

The Court has broad discretion in fashioning remedies for violations of the FRCP, including
imposition of “any appropriate sanction.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(d)(2). Because it appears the deposition
was conducted to obtain evidence against Defendants in violation of the FRCP, Plaintiffis prohibited
from using the deposition testimony in this case.' Allowing use of the deposition would frustrate the
FRCP’s goal of protecting defendants and deponents.” See Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(d) advisory

committee’s note.

Plaintiff’s attempt to circumvent the FRCP caused undue burden and expense on Defendants
in the filing of this Motion. Because Plaintiff’s improper actions necessitated the Motion for

Sanctions, Defendants’ request for $5,000.00 in attorney’s fee is granted.

Defendants’ further requests for relief are unnecessary to remedy Plaintiff’s violations and
are denied. If Defendants discover new information that leads them to believe Plaintiff has violated

the FRCP, the Court will address that issue when properly brought to its attention.

"This prohibition does not prevent Plaintiff from using the deposition testimony in other
cases against these Defendants or any other parties. The prohibition only applies to the present
action against Defendants.

*Both parties are free to depose Mr. Cangany subsequent to this Order in accordance with
the FRCP.
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III. CONCLUSION

Given the totality of the circumstances and the nature of the deposition, the Court is of the
opinion that the deposition of Mr. Cangany was taken to elicit testimony regarding allegations made

in the Complaint in violation of the FRCP.

IT ISTHEREFORE ORDERED that Defendants’ Motion for Sanctions (Clerk’s Dkt. No.
30) is hereby GRANTED IN PART and DENIED IN PART.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants’ request for an order prohibiting Mr.

Cangany’s deposition testimony for any purpose in this litigation is hereby GRANTED.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants’ request for $5,000.00 in attorney’s fees is
hereby GRANTED.

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that Defendants’ further requests for relief are hereby

DENIED.

SIGNED this 17" day of August, 2012.

S Rl

JAM éR. NOWLIN
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE




